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Moses S. Hall, Esq., (SBN 153759)
LAW OFFICE OF MOSES S. HALL
2651 E. Chapman Avenue, Suite 110

Fullerton, California 92831
Telephone: (714) 738-4830
Fax: (714) 992-7916

Attorney for Plaintiff,
IGNACIO SERRANO

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

RENE

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

IGNACIO SERRANO, an individual, ) Case No. : SACV09-0861 DOC (ANx)

)
Plaintiff, ) SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR:

VS.

GMAC MORTGAGE, an entity whose form is
unknown; ALLIANCE TITLE, an entity whose
form is unknown; MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC
REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware
Corporation, and DOES 1 through 50, inclusive,

Defendants.

1. WRONGFUL FORECLOSURE BASED
UPON STATUTORY VIOLATIONS

2. BREACH OF CONTRACT

3. CANCELLATION OF TRUSTEE SALE

4. PRELIMINARY AND PERMANENT
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF UNDER
BUSINESS AND PROFESSIONS
CODE 17200 ET AL.

N N N N N Nt it “ma s et “au et et st st et st st st et et st et

L COMMON ALLEGATIONS

Plaintiff IGNACIO SERRANO alleges:

1. At all relevant

Orange, State of California.

times herein, Plaintiff is an individual residing in the County of

2. Defendant GMAC MORTGAGE, (hereinafter referred to as “GMAC”) is an entity
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whose form is unknown to Plaintiff but which is organized and existing under the laws of the
United States and which, at all relevant times, was doing business as a real estate financial
lender.

3. Defendant MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, (hereinafter
“MERS”) is a Delaware Corporation which at all relevant times was doing business as the
Beneficiary of the Deed of Trust between Plaintiff and Defendant GMAC.

4. The true names or capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate or otherwise
of Defendants named herein as DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, are unknown to Plaintiff who
therefore sues said Defendants by such fictitious names, and Plaintiff will amend this complaint
to show their true names and capacities when the same have been ascertained.

5. At all times relevant herein, each of the Doe Defendants was the agent, servant,
representative and/or employee of each of the remaining Defendants and was at all times acting
within the course and scope of such agency and/or employment, or was in some way the cause of
Plaintiff’s damage.

6. The complained of actions occurred from September 2008 and continue throughout
2009, well within all applicable statutes of limitation.

IL Summary Description and History of Civil Code Section 2923.5

7. On July 8, 2008, Governor Schwarzenegger signed into law Senate Bill 1137. This
Act, also known as the Perata Mortgage Relief Bill, was subsequently codified as Civil Code §§
2923.5 and 2923.6. It governs any residential mortgage executed between January 1, 2003 and
December 31, 2007.

8. Among the protections which the statute contains for borrowers in foreclosure is a
mandatory notification, meeting, and consultation process that must be made available to the
borrower by the foreclosing lender, mortgagee, trustee, beneficiary, or authorized agent, prior to
filing a notice of default under Civil Code § 2924. The statute states that it is "modifying the
foreclosure process to require mortgagees, beneficiaries, or authorized agents to contact
borrowers and explore options that could avoid foreclosure.”

9. Civil Code § 2923.5 also contains additional requirements Lenders, mortgagees,
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trustees, beneficiaries, or authorized agents must comply with prior to filing a Notice of Default
pursuant to California Civil Code § 2924. The section requires the Lender to contact the
borrower in person or by telephone in order to assess the borrower's financial situation and
explore options for the borrower to avoid foreclosure. During the initial contact, the Lender
shall advise the borrower that he or she has the right to request a subsequent meeting and, if
requested, the mortgagee, beneficiary, or authorized agent shall schedule the meeting to occur
within 14 days. The assessment of the borrower's financial situation and discussion of options
may occur during the first contact, or at the subsequent meeting scheduled for that purpose. In
either case, the borrower shall be provided the toll-free telephone number made available by the
United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) to find a HUD-certified
housing counseling agency. Any meeting may occur telephonically. Civil Code § 2923.5 further
requires that the Lender may not file a Notice of Default until 30 days after this contact and good
faith discussion takes place.

10. Further it is the Plaintiff’s contention that Civil Code § 2923.5 mandates that a good
faith discussion take place regarding the borrower’s financial situation and an actual exploration
into the borrowers’ options to stay in their home. Plaintiff contends that section 2923.5 requires a
discussion concerning the possibility of avoiding foreclosure or modifying the current mortgage
so, in these times, the borrower could actually explore the possibilities of avoiding foreclosure
and not receive merely a cursory phone call assessing the borrower’s financial situation.

11. In addition Civil Code § 2923.5 (c) provides that if a mortgagee, trustee, beneficiary,
or authorized agent, has filed a notice of default prior to the enactment of the section 2923.5,
then the mortgagee, trustee, beneficiary, or authorized agent, must, in the notice of sale, include a
declaration that states (1) the borrower was contacted to assess the borrower’s financial situation
and to explore options for the borrower to avoid foreclosure, or (2) list the efforts made, if any to
contact the borrower in the event the contact was made; and this declaration must comply with
California Code of Civil Procedure § 2015.

ITII. Summary Description and History of Civil Code Section 2923.52

12. Notwithstanding Section 2923.5 and Section 2923.6, due to the yet astronomical
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increase in residential property foreclosures throughout California, Governor Schwarzenegger
again on June 1, 2009 signed into law the California Foreclosure Prevention Act. This act was
subsequently codified as Civil Code Section 2923.52. It governs any residential mortgage
executed between January 1, 2003 and December 31, 2007.

13. The intent of Civil Code Section 2923.52 is to slow the deleterious effects that were
resulting from the continued rise in foreclosures by modifying the foreclosure process to allow
an additional ninety days (90) to the current notice requirements of California Civil Code Section
2924 in order for the parties to pursue loan modifications to prevent foreclosure from occurring.

II. Summary Description and History of Civil Code Section 2923.53

14. Section 2923.52 contains an exemption for loans that are serviced by mortgage loan
servicers if the servicer has obtained a current and valid order of exemption pursuant to section
2923.53. There is also an exemption for loans made, purchased, or serviced by a California state
or local public housing agency or authority, and for loans that are collateral for securities
purchased by a local public housing agency or authority. In order to qualify for the exemption
under section 2923.53, the mortgage loan servicer must have implemented a comprehensive loan
modification program that includes some combination of: an interest rate reduction for a fixed
term for at least five years, an extension of the amortization period of the loan term to no more
than 40 years from the original date of the loan, deferral of some portion of the principal amount
of the unpaid principal balance until maturity of the loan, reduction of the principal amount,
compliance with a federally mandated loan modification program, and other factors that the
commissioner determines are appropriate and offered some type of assistance in connection with
the program if requested by the borrower.

PLAINTIFF’S CAUSES OF ACTION
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

WRONGFUL FORECLOSURE BASED ON STATUTORY VIOLATIONS
(Against All Defendants)
15. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1 through 14, inclusive, as though fully set forth

herein.
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16. Plaintiff, at all times relevant to this Second Amended Complaint (‘SAC’), was the
owner of his real property. Plaintiff’s property is commonly known as 4109 West 5™ Street, Unit
#53, Santa Ana, California, 92703. This property will hereinafter be referred to as “Subject
Property.”

17. On or about October 15, 2007, Plaintiff obtained a thirty-year mortgage from
Homecoming Financial in the amount of $235,000.00 for his primary residence located at 4109
West 5 Street, Unit #53, Santa Ana, California 92703. A true and correct copy of said mortgage
is attached as Exhibit “1" to this complaint and is incorporated by this reference as though set
out in its entirety.

18. The Plaintiff owned and continually occupied, as his principal residence, the real
property subject to the aforementioned mortgage.

19. Plaintiff is informed and believes that the Deed of Trust held by Homecoming
Financial was bought out, sold, transferred, reformed, or assumed by Defendant GMAC.

20. On or about October 15, 2008 GMAC initiated a non-judicial foreclosure proceeding
on Plaintiff’s residence, by causing the Trustee to record a Notice of Default and Election to Sell
under Deed of Trust. A true and correct copy of this Notice of Default is attached as Exhibit
«p »

21. After recording the Notice of Default on October 15, 2008, Defendant GMAC
contacted Plaintiff and began discussing the possibilities of a loan modification.

22. In April of 2009, Defendant GMAC caused, without legal justification, the
negotiations to stop and again initiated foreclosure proceedings on Plaintiff’s home.

23. On or about June 10, 2009, GMAC caused the sale of Plaintiff’s property at a
Trustee’s Sale. As a result, Plaintiff has been wrongfully deprived of home via a Trustee’s Sale
which concluded with a disposition of the Plaintiff’s property.

24. Plaintiff alleges that GMAC authorized and/or initiated this foreclosure proceeding
without first notifying Plaintiff, as was its duty pursuant to Civil Code § 2923.5.

25. Pursuant to California Civil Code § 2924(b), the Defendants, and each of them, had

an obligation to send by certified mail a copy of the duly recorded Notice of Default, which was
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done. However, the Notice of Default, as amended by California Civil Code § 2923.5, required
that the Notice have an attached Declaration that complied with the requirements of California
Code of Civil Procedure § 2015.5, in addition to the requirements described in Paragraphs 7
through 11 of this second amended complaint.
26. The Notice of Default (Attached as Exhibit <2°) recorded by the Defendants in this
matter contained the following language:
“The undersigned declares that the beneficiary or its authorized agent has declared
that they have complied with California Civil Code Section 2923.5 by making
contact with the borrower or tried with due diligence to contact the borrower as

required by California Civil Code Section 2923.5.”

27. California Civil Code § 2923.5(b) provides that “A notice of default filed pursuant to
Section 2924 shall include a declaration from the mortgagee, beneficiary, or authorized agent
that it has contacted the borrower, tried with due diligence to contract the borrower as required
by this section, or the borrower has surrendered the property to the mortgagee, trustee,
beneficiary or authorized agent.”

28. California Civil Code, §2923.5(b) and (g)(1)(2)(A)B)(C) (3)(4)(5) require a lender
to conduct “due diligence” in attempting to contact the borrower by: attempting to contact the
borrower first by a first class letter that includes a toll-free number for HUD to find a HUD-
certified housing counseling agency; after the letter has been sent to contact the borrower by
telephone at least three times, at three hours and on different days; attempting to contact the
borrower with an automated system that connects borrowers to a live representative; send a
certified letter to the borrower with return receipt requested if borrower does not respond with
two weeks; provide a means for the borrower to contact in a timely manner; post a prominent
link on the homepage of the Internet Web site.

29. Plaintiff received no first class letter from the Defendants providing a toll-free
number for HUD to find a HUD-certified housing counseling agency. Plaintiff received no

contact prior to the filing of the Notice of Default. Further, Defendants did not send a certified
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letter to Plaintiff with return receipt requested after Plaintiff had sent no response after two
weeks.

30. As a result of the above acts or omissions, Defendants have violated Civil Code
§2923.5 prior to their filing of the Notice of Default pursuant to Civil Code §2924. This
violation make the foreclosure and sale of Plaintiff’s residence wrongful, improper, and illegal
under California law.

31. Defendants have further violated Civil Code §2923.5, by virtue of the “declaration”
attached to their Notice of Default failing to meet the requirements of Code of Civil Procedure
§2015.5.

32. Code of Civil Procedure §2015.5 provides that whenever any matter is required to be
supported, evidenced, established, or proven by the declaration of a person, such matter may be
supborted in “the writing of such person which recites that it is certified or declared by him or
her to be true under penalty of perjury...”

33. California Civil Code §2923.5 requires such a declaration. However, Defendants’
notice of default does not contain any recitation that the declaration is made under the penalty of
perjury nor does it contain any evidence tending to prove that it was made under penalty of
perjury. Therefore, Defendants are in violation of California Civil Code §2923.5 by virtue of
their failure to comply with the declaration requirements of Code of Civil Procedure §2015.5.

34. Because of Defendants’ failure to comply with the requirements of Code of Civil
Procedure §2015.5, and thus violating Civil Code §2923.5, the foreclosure and sale of Plaintiff’s
residence was wrongful, improper, and illegal under California law.

35. In addition, Defendants applied for and were granted an exemption from the
additional ninety-day notice requirements contained in Civil Code section 2923.52. To obtain
this exemption, the Defendants’ represented to the Department of Corporations that it had a
comprehensive loan modification program, as required by section 2923.53 to qualify for the
exemption. Said representations were false and/or fraudulent. Plaintiff’s loan met the
requirements for a loan modification, yet Plaintiff never received any information regarding any

loan modification program. Therefore, either Defendants made misrepresentations to the
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Department of Corporations, or Plaintiff was wrongfully denied any opportunity to discuss and
explore options regarding a modification of his loan.

36. Further, the wrongful conduct of all Defendants, by not allowing the required ninety
day period after the three-month foreclosure period before instituting foreclosure proceedings,
violated California Civil Code Section 2923.52.

37. Defendants’ failure to observe this added ninety days as required by California law,
coupled with Defendants’ failure to make a good-faith attempt to modify Plaintiff’s mortgage
and offer to implement the programs that Defendants represented that it had, makes any
foreclosure on Plaintiffs’ property wrongful and deprives Plaintiff of his right under statute
because Plaintiff was denied the opportunity to discuss and explore the options of a loan
modification as required by California law. Further, Defendants’ actions proximately caused
Plaintiff to suffer damages in an amount which will be proven at trial.

38. Defendants’ actions were against public policy because the legislature enacted this
provision to slow the process of foreclosures in order for foreclosures to be avoided. Defendants’
actions in disregarding the additional ninety days, as well as the misrepresentations made to the
California Department of Corporations that led Plaintiff to believe his loan was to be modified
and the foreclosure process delayed, were precisely contrary to the policy behind Civil Code
Section 2923.52.

39. The Defendants failure to comply with Civil Code §2923.5 and 2923.52 greatly
prejudiced the Plaintiff’s rights of un-encumbering his property or refinancing his property in
that Plaintiff was not properly noticed of the foreclosure pending on his property.

40. As a result of these wrongful acts and omissions, Plaintiff was not properly notified
of the pending foreclosure process that was instituted in violation of Civil Code section 2924(b)
and 2923.5.

41. As a result of these wrongful acts and omissions, Plaintiff has been precluded from
properly curing any default in his mortgage and also from all the rights and benefits that go along
with a person’s ability to own and reside in a home.

42. As a result of these wrongful acts and omissions, Plaintiff has been precluded from
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benefiting from the rights granted by Civil Code section 2924(b), 2923.5 and, 2923.52 and
attempting to modify his current loan to a principal amount and an interest rate which he could
not only afford, but would have allowed him to stay in his home.

43. Notwithstanding the notice to Defendants of their violations, Defendant’s
intentionally, willfully, maliciously, oppressively, and fraudulently continued to act in a manner
which resulted in the wrongfully foreclosure of Plaintiff’s residence, his eviction from his home,
and the sale of Plaintiff’s home to a third party.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

BREACH OF CONTRACT
(As Against All Defendants)

44. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1 through 43, as though fully set forth herein.

45. A mortgage is a contract pursuant to California Civil Code section 2920 (a).

46. On or about October 15, 2007, Plaintiff obtained a thirty-year mortgage from
Homecoming Financial in the amount of $235,000.00 for his primary residence located at 4109
West 5% Street, Unit #53, Santa Ana, California 92703. A true and correct copy of said mortgage
is attached as Exhibit “1" to this complaint and is incorporated by this reference as though set
out in its entirety. Defendant MERS is the beneficiary of the aforesaid mortgage/deed of trust.

47. Plaintiff is informed, believes, and alleges that the Deed of Trust held by
Homecoming Financial was bought out, sold, transferred, reformed, or in some manner assumed
by Defendant GMAC.

48. In accepting the assignment of the mortgage between Plaintiff and Homecoming
Financial, GMAC as well as the other Defendants, obtained both the rights and obligations
contained in said mortgage. Consequently, a valid contract exists between Plaintiff and GMAC.

49, Paragraph 22 of said mortgage contains an attorney fee provision awarding
reasonable attorney’s fees to the prevailing party in connection to any action for foreclosure.
Paragraph 22 further provides that any foreclosure on Plaintiff’s residence would be performed
in accordance with California law. Furthermore, Paragraph 16 of said mortgage contains a

provision that the mortgage shall be governed by California law.
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50. Therefore, based on the above agreement, the Defendants were bound to act in

accordance with California law when initiating foreclosure on Plaintiff’s property. Specifically,
the Defendants were bound to obey, and conform their actions to, California Civil Code sections

2923.5, and 2923.52.

51. Defendants breached the contract when they committed the following acts or

omissions:

(1) foreclosed upon Plaintiff’s residence, evicted Plaintiff, and sold Plaintiff’s residence
without complying with Civil Code section 2923.5’s requirements that (a) Plaintiff
receive a first class letter from the Defendants providing a toll-free number for HUD to
find a HUD-certified housing counseling agency; (b) that Plaintiff be contacted prior to
the filing of the Notice of Default to discuss a loan modification in accordance with
section 2923.5, (c) that Plaintiff be sent a certified letter with return receipt requested
after Plaintiff had not responded to the Defendants after two weeks, and (d) that any
notice of default contain a valid declaration of compliance with the requirements of Code

of Civil Procedure section 2923.5.

And

(2) Foreclosed upon Plaintiff’s residence, evicted Plaintiff, and sold Plaintiff’s residence
without (a) first offering Plaintiff a modification in accordance to the comprehensive loan
modification program which Defendants represented to the Department of Corporations
was in place so as to obtain an exemption from the additional ninety day period contained
in Civil .Code section 2923.52, and (b) by not allowing the required ninety day period
after the three-month foreclosure period before instituting foreclosure proceedings in

violation of Civil Code Section 2923.52.

52. The above failures of the Defendants to comply with the California Civil Code is a

direct breach of Paragraphs 16 and 22 of the mortgage agreement between Plaintiff and

Defendants.

53. As a direct and proximate cause of the Defendants’ breach of contract, Plaintiff has
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suffered damages in an amount that will be proven at trial.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

CANCELLATION OF THE TRUSTEE’S SALE
(As Against All Defendants)

54. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1 through 53, inclusive, as though fully set forth
herein.

55. By virtue of the Defendants’ wrongful foreclosure based upon violation of the
aforementioned statutory provisions, as well as the afore-described breach of the mortgage
agreement by the Defendants, the Notice of Default and all subsequent foreclosure proceedings
should be canceled.

56. Plaintiff requests that Defendants be ordered to cancel the Trustee’s Sale, rescind

and restore Plaintiff’s property to him.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

PERLIMININARY AND PERMANENT
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF UNDER BUSINESS AND
PROFESSIONS CODE §§ 17200 ET SEQ.
(As Against All Defendants)

57. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1 through 56, inclusive as though fully set forth
herein.

58. California's unfair competition statute, Business and Professions Code section 17200
et seq., prohibits any unfair competition, which means “any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent
business act or practice.” This tripartite is disjunctive and the plaintiff need only allege one of
the three theories to properly plead a claim under section 17200. Section 17200 was written
broadly in order to allow the courts maximum discretion to prohibit new schemes to defraud. The
statute provides that unfair competition includes unlawful, unfair, or fraudulent business
practices and unfair, deceptive, untrue, or misleading advertising.

59. The Defendants’ violations of Civil Code section 2923.5 in (a) not sending Plaintiff

a first class letter providing a toll-free number for HUD to find a HUD-certified housing
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counseling agency; (b) not contacting Plaintiff prior to the filing of the Notice of Default to
discuss a loan modification in accordance with section 2923.5, (c) not sending Plaintiff a
certified letter with return receipt requested after Plaintiff had not responded to the Defendants
after two weeks, and (d) filing a notice of default not containing a valid declaration of
compliance with the requirements of Code of Civil Procedure section 2923.5 and (e) refusing to
enter into good faith discussions with Plaintiff in compliance with 2923.5 are all business
practices that are unlawful, unfair, and/or fraudulent under Business and Professions Code
section 17200.

60. In addition, the Defendants’ actions herein in violating section 2923.52, in either
making misrepresentations to the State of California to obtain an exemption under section
2923.53 from section 2923.52’s requirements or their failure to implement or offer a loan
modification program in compliance with section 2923.52 to Plaintiff are also business practices
that are unlawful, unfair, and/or fraudulent under Business and Professions Code section 17200.

61. The above-described unfair practices injured Plaintiff in an amount which will be
proven at the time of trial.

62. Plaintiff is informed and believes and therefore alleges that the Defendants
performed those above-mentioned acts for the purpose of injuring Plaintiff and facilitating
Plaintiff losing her home to foreclosure. Plaintiff further alleges that the Defendants, unless
restrained, will continue to engage in the above-described unfair business practices.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment against Defendants and each of them on all
causes of actions as follows:

As to the first cause of action for wrongful foreclosure:

1.  For a compensatory damage award according to proof;

2.  For exemplary and punitive damages in the sum of one million dollars

($1,000,000.00) from each Defendant.

3.  For such other and further relief as the court deems just and proper.
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As to the second cause of action for breach of contract:

1.  For a compensatory damage award according to proof;

2.  Forreasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit;

3.  For arescission of the Notice of Default and any subsequent Notice of Trustee sale
4.  For such other and further relief as the court deems just and proper.

As to the third cause of action for cancellation of trustee sale:

1.  Cancellation of any sale of Plaintiff’s residence;

2. For a compensatory damage award according to proof;

3 For costs of suit;

4. For arescission of the Notice of Default and any subsequent Notice of Trustee sale
5. For such other and further relief as the court deems just and proper.

As to the fourth cause of action for unfair business practices

1.  For an order restraining Defendants from engaging in any further unfair business

Practices of the type to be proven at the time of trial;

2. For a compensatory damage award according to proof;
3.  For costs of suit;
4. For reasonable attorneys' fees;
5.  For such other and further relief as the court deems just and proper.
DATED: March 31, 2010 LAW OFFICES OF MOSES S. HALL,

BY: M&S% D. A@Q“Q

MOSES S. HALL,

Attorney for Plaintiff,
IGNACIO SERRANO
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DEED OF TRUST

MIN 100062604755492420

DEFINITIONS

Words used in multiple sections of this document are defined below and other words are defined in
Sections 3, 11, 13, 18, 20 and 21. Certain rules regarding the usage of words used in this document are
also provided in Section 16. '

(A) "Security Instrument" means this document, which is dated OCTOBER 15TH, 2007 .
together with all Riders to this document.
(B) "Borrower" is

IGNACIO SERRANO AND JOSEFINA SERRANO, HUSBAND AND WIFE AS JOINT
TENANTS

Borrower’s address is 4109 WEST STH STREET, SANTA ANA, CA. 92703
. Borrower is the trustor under this Security Instrument,
(C) "Lender" is HOMECOMINGS FINANCIAL, LLC (F/K/A HOMECOMINGS FINANCIAL
NETWORK, INC.)
Lenderisa LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY
organized and existing under the laws of DELAWARE

CALIFORNIA-Single Family-Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac UNIFORM INSTRUMENT WITH MERS Form 3005 1/01
MECA7770 (05/2005) / 047-554924-2

@ -BA(CA) (0207).01

S S ol A
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Lender’s address is 4350 VON KARMAN AVENUE, #100
NEWPORT BEACH, CA 92660
(D) "Trustee" is ALLIANCE TITLE

(E) "MERS" is Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. MERS is a separate corporation that is
acting solely as a nominee for Lender and Lender’s successors and assigns. MERS is the beneficiary
under this Security Instrument. MERS is organized and existing under the laws of Delaware, and has an
address and telephone number of P.O. Box 2026, Flint, MI 48501-2026, tel. (888) 679-MERS.

(F) "Note" means the promissory note signed by Borrower and dated OCTOBER 15TH, 2007

The Note states that Borrower owes Lender TWO HUNDRED THIRTY FIVE THOUSAND AND
No/100 Dollars
(U.S.$ 235,000.00 ) plus interest. Borrower has promised to pay this debt in regular Periodic
Payments and to pay the debt in full not later than NOVEMBER 1ST, 2037

(G) "Property" means the property that is described below under the heading "Transfer of Rights in the
Property."

(H) "Loan" means the debt evidenced by the Note, plus interest, any prepayment charges and late charges
due under the Note, and all sums due under this Security Instrument, plus interest.

@ "Riders" means all Riders to this Security Instrument that are executed by Borrower. The following
Riders are to be executed by Borrower [check box as applicable]:

[ Adjustable Rate Rider [X] Condominium Rider [ Second Home Rider
Balloon Rider [_] Planned Unit Development Rider 114 Family Rider
VA Rider ] Biweekly Payment Rider [_] other(s) [specify]

() "Applicable Law" means all controlling applicable federal, state and local statutes, regulations,
ordinances and administrative rules and orders (that have the effect of law) as well as all applicable final,
non-appealable judicial opinions.

(K) "Community Association Dues, Fees, and Assessments"” means all dues, fees, assessments and other
charges that are imposed on Borrower or the Property by a condominium association, homeowners
association or similar organization.

(L) "Electronic Funds Transfer" means any transfer of funds, other than a transaction originated by
check, draft, or similar paper instrument, which is initiated through an electronic terminal, telephonic
instrument, computer, or magnetic tape so as to order, instruct, or authorize a financial institution to debit
or credit an account. Such term includes, but is not limited to, point-of-sale transfers, automated telier
machine transactions, transfers initiated by telephone, wire transfers, and automated clearinghouse
transfers.

(M) "Escrow Items" means those items that are described in Section 3.

(N) "Miscellaneous Proceeds" means any compensation, settlement, award of damages, or proceeds paid
by any third party (other than insurance proceeds paid under the coverages described in Section 5) for: (i)
damage to, or destruction of, the Property; (ii) condemnation or other taking of all or any part of the
Property; (iii) conveyance in lieu of condemnation; or (iv) misrepresentations of, or omissions as to, the
value and/or condition of the Property.

(0) "Mortgage Insurance” means insurance protecting Lender against the nonpayment of, or default on,
the Loan.

(P) "Periodic Payment" means the regularly scheduled amount due for (i) principal and interest under the
Note, plus (ii) any amounts under Section 3 of this Security Instrument.
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(Q) "RESPA" means the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (12 U.S.C. Scction 2601 et seq.) and its
implementing regulation, Regulation X (24 C.F.R. Part 3500), as they might be amended from time to
time, or any additional or successor legislation or regulation that governs the same subject matter. As used
in this Security Instrument, "RESPA" refers to all requirements and restrictions that are imposed in regard
to a "federally related mortgage loan" even if the Loan does not qualify as a "federally related mortgage
loan" under RESPA.

(R) "Successor in Interest of Borrower" means any party that has taken title to the Property, whether or
not that party has assumed Borrower’s obligations under the Note and/or this Security Instrument,

TRANSFER OF RIGHTS IN THE PROPERTY

The beneficiary of this Security Instrument is MERS (solely as nominee for Lender and Lender's
successors and assigns) and the successors and assigns of MERS. This Security Instrument
secures to Lender: (i) the repayment of the Loan, and all renewals, extensions and modifications
of the Note; and (ii) the performance of Borrower's covenants and agreements under this
Security Instrument and the Note. For this purpose, Borrower irrevocably grants and conveys to
Trustee, in trust, with power of sale, the following described property located in the
COUNTY of ORANGE :

[Type of Recording Jurisdiction] [Name of Recording Jurisdiction]
Legal description attached hereto and made a part hereof

Parcel ID Number: 933-53-053 which currently has the address of
4109 WEST STH STREET UNIT # 53 ” [Street}
SANTA ANA [City], California 92703 [Zip Code]

(“Property Address"):

TOGETHER WITH all the improvements now or hereafter erected on the property, and all
easements, appurtenances, and fixtures now or hereafter a part of the property. All replacements and
additions shall also be covered by this Security Instrument. All of the foregoing is referred to in this
Security Instrument as the "Property." Borrower understands and agrees that MERS holds only legal title
to the interests granted by Borrower in this Security Instrument, but, if necessary to comply with law or
custom, MERS (as nominee for Lender and Lender’s successors and assigns) has the right: to exercise any
or all of those interests, including, but not limited to, the right to foreclose and sell the Property; and to
take any action required of Lender including, but not limited to, releasing and canceling this Security
Instrument.

BORROWER COVENANTS that Borrower is lawfully seised of the estate hereby conveyed and has
the right to grant and convey the Property and that the Property is unencumbered, except for encumbrances

-8A(CA) 102071.01 Page 3 of 16 \) S \G“\"‘“'Q Form 3005 1/01
MFCA7770 (09/2006) / 047-554924-2 i



Case 8:09-cv-00861-DOC-AN Document 48 Filed 04/01/10 Page 18 of 39

of record. Borrower warrants and will defend generally the title to the Property against all claims and

demands, subject to any encumbrances of record.

THIS SECURITY INSTRUMENT combines uniform covenants for national use and non-uniform
covenants with limited variations by jurisdiction to constitute a uniform security instrument covering real
property.

UNIFORM COVENANTS. Borrower and Lender covenant and agree as follows:

1. Pasment of Principal, Interest, Escrow Items, Prepayment Charges, and Late Charges.
Borrower shall pay when due the principal of, and interest on, the debt evidenced by the Note and any
prepayment charges and late charges due under the Note, Borrower shall also pay funds for Escrow Items
pursuant to Section 3. Payments due under the Note and this Security Instrument shall be made in U.S.
currency. However, if any check or other instrument received by Lender as payment under the Note or this
Security Instrument is returned to Lender unpaid, Lender may require that any or all subsequent payments
due under the Note and this Security Instrument be made in one or more of the following forms, as
selected by Lender: (a) cash; (b) money order; (c) certified check, bank check, treasurer's check or
cashier’s check, provided any such check is drawn upon an institution whose deposits are insured by a
federal agency, instrumentality, or entity; or (d) Electronic Funds Transfer.

Payments are deemed received by Lender when received at the location designated in the Note or at
such other location as may be designated by Lender in accordance with the notice provisions in Section 15.
Lender may return any ﬂyment or partial payment if the payment or partial payments are insufficient to
bring the Loan current. Lender may accept any payment or partial payment insufficient to bring the Loan
current, without waiver of any rights hereunder or prejudice to its rigf"x'ts to refuse such payment or partial
payments in the future, but Lender is not obligated to apply such payments at the time such payments are
accepted. If each Periodic Payment is applied as of its scheduled due dateé, then Lender need not pay
interest on unapplied funds. Lender may hold such unapplied funds until Borrower makes payment to bring
the Loan current. If Borrower does not do so within a reasonable period of time, Lender shall either apply
such funds or return them to Borrower. If not applied earlier, such funds will be applied to the outstanding
principal balance under the Note immediately prior to foreclosure. No offset or claim which Borrower
might have now or in the future against Lender shall relieve Borrower from making payments due under
ihe Note and this Security Instrument or performing the covenants and agreements secured by this Security
nstrument.

2. Application of Payments or Proceeds. Except as otherwise described in this Section 2, all
payments accepted and applied bi' Lender shall be applied in the following order of priority: (a) interest
due under the Note; (b) ringiipa due under the Note; (c) amounts due under Section 3. Such payments
shall be applied to each Periodic Payment in the order in which it became due. Any remaining amounts
shall be applied first to late charges, second to any other amounts due under this Security Instrument, and
then to reduce the principal balance of the Note.

If Lender receives a payment from Borrower for a delinquent Periodic Payment which includes a
sufficient amount to pay any late charge due, the payment may be applied to the delinquent payment and
the late charge. If more than one Periodic Payment is outstanding, Lender may a;:gly any 1gayment received
from Borrower to the repayment of the Periodic Payments if, and to the extent that, each payment can be
paid in full. To the extent that any excess exists after the payment is applied to the full payment of one or
more Periodic Payments, such excess may be applied to any late charges due. Voluntary prepayments shall
be applied first to any prepayment charges and then as described in the Note.

Any application of payments, insurance proceeds, or Miscellaneous Proceeds to principal due under
the Note 1 not extend or postpone the due date, or change the amount, of the Periodic Payments.

3, Funds for Escrow Items. Borrower shall pa& to Lender on the day Periodic Payments are due
under the Note, until the Note is paid in full, a sum (the "Funds") to provide for payment of amounts due
for: (a) taxes and assessments and other jtems which can attain priority over this Security Instrument as a
lien or encumbrance on the Property; (b) leaschold payments or ground rents on the Property, if any; (c)
premiums for any and all insurance required by Lender under Section 5; and (d) Mortgage Insurance

remiums, if any, or any sums payable by Borrower to Lender in lieu of the payment of Mortgage
nsurance premiums in accordance with the provisions of Section 10. These items are called "Escrow
Items." At origination or at any time during the term of the Loan, Lender may require that Community
Association Dues, Fees, and Assessments, if any, be escrowed by Borrower, and such dues, fees and
assessments shall be an Escrow Item. Borrower shall promptly furnish to Lender all notices of amounts to
be paid under this Section. Borrower shall fpay Lender the Funds for Escrow [tems unless Lender waives
Borrower’s obligation to pay the Funds for ané or all Escrow Items. Lender may waive Borrower’s
obligation to pay to Lender Funds for any or all Escrow Items at any time. Any such waiver may only be

lnlu-lI S

-BA(CA) (0207). Page 4 of 15 F 1/01
{CA) (02071.01 age 4 o 3. S, o \-{"(ﬂ“ orm 3005 1/
MFCA7770 (09/2006) / 047-554924-2



Case 8:09-cv-00861-DOC-AN Document 48 Filed 04/01/10 Page 19 of 39

in writing. In the event of such waiver, Borrower shall pay directly, when and where payable, the amounts
due for any Escrow Items for which payment of Funds has been waived by Lender and, if Lender requires,
shall furnish to Lender receipts evidencing such payment within such time period as Lender may require.
Borrower’s obligation to make such payments and to provide receipts shall for all purposes be deemed to
be a covenant and agreement contained in this Security Instrument, as the phrase "covenant and agreement"”
is used in Section 9. If Borrower is obligated to pay Escrow ltems directly, pursuant to a waiver, and
Borrower fails to pay the amount due for an Escrow Item, Lender may exercise its rights under Section 9
and pay such amount and Borrower shall then be obligated under Section 9 to repay to Lender any such
amount. Lender may revoke the waiver as to any or all Escrow Items at any time by a notice given in
accordance with Section 15 and, upon such revocation, Borrower shall pay to Lender all Funds, and in
such amounts, that are then required under this Section 3.

Lender may, at any time, collect and hold Funds in an amount (a) sufficient to permit Lender to apply
the Funds at the time specified under RESPA, and (b) not to exceed the maximum amount a lender can
require under RESPA. Lender shall estimate the amount of Funds due on the basis of current data and
reasonable estimates of expenditures of future Escrow ltems or otherwise in accordance with Applicable
Law.

The Funds shall be held in an institution whose deposits are insured by a federal agency,
instrumentality, or entity (including Lender, if Lender is an institution whose deposits are so insured) or in
any Pederal Home Loan Bank. Lender shall apply the Funds to pay the Escrow Items no later than the time
specified under RESPA. Lender shall not charge Borrower for holding and applying the Funds, annually
analyzing the escrow account, or verifying the Escrow Items, unless Lender pays Borrower interest on the
Funds and Applicable Law permits Lender to make such a charge. Unless an agreement is made in writing
or Applicable Law requires interest to be paid on the Funds, Lender shall not be required to pay Borrower
any interest or earnings on the Funds. Borrower and Lender can agree in writing, however, that interest
shall be paid on the Funds. Lender shall give to Borrower, without charge, an annual accounting of the
Funds as required by RESPA.

If there is a surplus of Funds held in escrow, as defined under RESPA, Lender shall account to
Borrower for the excess funds in accordance with RESPA. If there is a shortage of Funds held in escrow,
as defined under RESPA, Lender shall notify Borrower as required by RESPA, and Borrower shall pay to
Lender the amount necessary to make up the shortage in accordance with RESPA, but in no more than 12
monthly payments, If there is a deficiency of Funds held in escrow, as defined under RESPA, Lender shall
notify Borrower as required by RESPA, and Borrower shall pay to Lender the amount necessary to make
up the deficiency in accordance with RESPA, but in no more than 12 monthly payments.

Upon payment in full of all sums secured by this Security Instrument, Lender shall promptly refund
to Borrower any Funds held by Lender.

4. Charges; Liens. Borrower shall pay all taxes, assessments, charges, fines, and impositions
attributable to the Property which can attain priority over this Security Instrument, leasehold payments or
ground rents on the Property, if any, and Community Association Dues, Fees, and Assessments, if any. To
the extent that these items are Escrow Items, Borrower shall pay them in the manner provided in Section 3.

Borrower shall promptly discharge any lien which has priority over this Security Instrument unless
Borrower: (a) agrees in writing to the payment of the obligation secured by the lien in a2 manner acceptable
to Lender, but only so long as Borrower is performing such agreement; (b) contests the lien in good faith
by, or defends against enforcement of the lien in, legal proceedings which in Lender’s opinion operate to
prevent the enforcement of the lien while those proceedings are pending, but only until such proceedings
are concluded; or (c) secures from the holder of the lien an agreement satisfactory to Lender subordinating
the lien to this Security Instrument, If Lender determines that any part of the Property is subject to a lien
which can attain priority over this Security Instrument, Lender may give Borrower a notice identifying the
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lien. Within 10 days of the date on which that notice is given, Borrower shall satisfy the lien or take one or
more of the actions set forth above in this Section 4.

Lender may require Borrower to pay a one-time charge for a real estate tax verification and/or
reporting service used by Lender in connection with this Loan.

5. Property Insurance. Borrower shall keep the improvements now existing or hereafter erected on
the Property insured against loss by fire, hazards included within the term vextended coverage,” and any
other hazards including, but not limited to, earthquakes and floods, for which Lender requires insurance.
This insurance shall be maintained in the amounts (including deductible levels) and for the periods that
Lender requires. What Lender requires pursuant to the preceding sentences can change during the term of
the Loan. The insurance carrier providing the insurance shall be chosen by Borrower subject to Lender’s
right to disapprove Borrower’s choice, which right shall not be exercised unreasonably. Lender may
require Borrower to pay, in connection with this Loan, either: (a) a one-time charge for flood zone
determination, certification and tracking services; or (b) a one-time charge for flood zone determination
and certification services and subsequent charges each time remappings or similar changes occur which
reasonably might affect such determination or certification. Borrower shall also be responsible for the
payment of any fees imposed by the Federal Emergency Management Agency in connection with the
review of any flood zone determination resulting from an objection by Borrower.

If Borrower fails to maintain any of the coverages described above, Lender may obtain insurance
coverage, at Lender’s option and Borrower’s expense. Lender is under no obligation to purchase any
particular type or amount of coverage. Therefore, such coverage shall cover Lender, but might or might
not protect Borrower, Borrower's equity in the Property, or the contents of the Property, against any risk,
hazard or liability and might provide greater or lesser coverage than was previously in effect. Borrower
acknowledges that the cost of the insurance coverage so obtained might significantly exceed the cost of
insurance that Borrower could have obtained. Any amounts disbursed by Lender under this Section 5 shall
become additional debt of Borrower secured by this Security Instrument. These amounts shall bear interest
at the Note rate from the date of disbursement and shall be payable, with such interest, upon notice from
Lender to Borrower requesting payment.

All insurance policies required by Lender and renewals of such policies shall be subject to Lender’s
right to disapprove such policies, shall include a standard mortgage clause, and shall name Lender as
mortgagee and/or as an additional loss payee and Borrower further agrees to generally assign rights to
insurance proceeds to the holder of the Note up to the amount of the outstanding loan balance. Lender shall
have the right to hold the policies and renewal certificates. If Lender requires, Borrower shall promptly
give to Lender all receipts of paid premiums and renewal notices. If Borrower obtains any form of
insurance coverage, not otherwise required by Lender, for damage to, or destruction of, the Property, such
policy shall include a standard mortgage clause and shall name Lender as mortgagee and/or as an additional
loss payee and Borrower further agrees to generally assign rights to insurance proceeds to the holder of the
Note up to the amount of the outstanding loan balance.

In the event of loss, Borrower shall give prompt notice to the insurance carrier and Lender. Lender
may make proof of loss if not made promptly by Borrower. Unless Lender and Borrower otherwise agree
in writing, any insurance proceeds, whether or not the underlying insurance was required by Lender, shall
be applied to restoration or repair of the Property, if the restoration or repair is economically feasible and
Lender’s security is not lessened. During such repair and restoration period, Lender shall have the right to
hold such insurance proceeds until Lender has had an opportunity to inspect such Property to ensure the
work has been completed to Lender's satisfaction, provided that such inspection shall be undertaken
promptly. Lender may disburse proceeds for the repairs and restoration in a single payment or in a series
of progress payments as the work is completed. Unless an agreement is made in writing or Applicable Law
requires interest to be paid on such insurance proceeds, Lender shall not be required to pay Borrower any
interest or earnings on such proceeds. Fees for public adjusters, or other third parties, retained by
Borrower shall not be paid out of the insurance proceeds and shall be the sole obligation of Borrower. If
the restoration or repair is not economically feasible or Lender’s security would be lessened, the insurance
proceeds shall be applied to the sums secured by this Security Instrument, whether or not then due, with
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